THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM Horry COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

George C. James, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2014-001285

---

**RECEIVED**

NOV 21 2014

**SC Court of Appeals**

National Security Fire and Casualty Company, Plaintiff,

v.

Rosemary Jenrette, AKA Rosemary Long Jenrette and Horry County State Bank,  
Defendants,

Of whom

Rosemary Jenrette, AKA Rosemary Long Jenrette is the Appellant,

and

Horry County State Bank is the Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

William W. DesChamps, Jr.  
William W. DesChamps, III  
DesChamps Law Firm  
1357 21<sup>st</sup> Avenue North, Suite 102

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THERE WAS A DEBT AND SPECIFIC PROPERTY TO WHICH THE DEBT ATTACHED WHEN THE APPELLANT WAS NOT OBLIGATED TO PAY ANY INDEBTEDNESS TO THE RESPONDENT, AND THE RESPONDENT WAS NOT NAMED AS A LOSS PAYEE OR ADDITIONAL INSURED UNDER THE INSURANCE POLICY THE APPELLANT OBTAINED PRIOR TO THE EXECUTION OF THE MORTGAGE?
- II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE APPELLANT WAS BOUND BY A COVENANT IN THE MORTGAGE TO INSURE HER REAL PROPERTY FOR BETTER SECURITY OF THE RESPONDENT WHEN THE MORTGAGE WAS A STANDARD MORTGAGE THAT DID NOT PROVIDE THAT ANY INSURANCE POLICY OR INSURANCE PROCEEDS SHALL, MAY, OR WILL SERVE AS SECURITY FOR THE MORTGAGE DEBT?
- III. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THERE WAS AN EXPRESS INTENT THAT THE INSURANCE PROCEEDS SERVE AS ADDITIONAL SECURITY FOR THE PAYMENT OF THE MORTGAGE DEBT WHEN THE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PARTIES, AS SET FORTH IN THE MORTGAGE, DOES NOT PROVIDE THAT ANY INSURANCE POLICY OR INSURANCE PROCEEDS, SHALL, MAY, OR WILL SERVE AS SECURITY FOR THE MORTGAGE DEBT, AND THE RESPONDENT NEVER CONTACTED NOR REQUIRED THE APPELLANT TO OBTAIN INSURANCE FOR ITS BENEFIT?
- IV. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE ASSIGNMENT SET FORTH IN PARAGRAPH 3B OF THE MORTGAGE SURVIVED THE CANCELLATION OF THE MORTGAGE AND BINDS THE APPELLANT WHEN THE APPELLANT WAS NOT PERSONALLY LIABLE UNDER THE MORTGAGE AND WAS NOT OBLIGATED UNDER THE DEFICIENCY JUDGMENT AS A JUDGMENT DEBTOR TO PAY THE RESIDUE OF THE MORTGAGE DEBT REMAINING UNSATISFIED AFTER HER REAL PROPERTY WAS SOLD AT FORECLOSURE?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 3, 2011, Plaintiff National Security Fire & Casualty Company (“Insurer”) filed this interpleader action naming Appellant Rosemary Jenrette, also known as Rosemary Long Jenrette (“Jenrette”), and Respondent Horry County State Bank (“Bank”) as party defendants (R. p. 43). This action was commenced by the Insurer as a result of competing claims made by Jenrette and the Bank for insurance proceeds in the sum of \$105,000.00 (R. p. 7). Jenrette and the Bank timely responded to the Insurer’s complaint and asserted cross-claims against one another claiming entitlement to the entire sum of the disputed insurance proceeds that were deposited by the Insurer into an escrow account (R. p. 7). Jenrette, by way of a claim for declaratory judgment, seeks an order declaring that she is solely entitled to the disputed insurance proceeds as the named insured under an insurance policy issued by the Insurer insuring the parcel of real property (“Subject Real Property”) bearing Tax Map Number 123-00-02-069 and located at 104 Country Club Drive, Conway, South Carolina (R. p. 7) (R. p. 48) (R. pp. 280-283). Jenrette claims that she is solely entitled to the disputed insurance proceeds because the insurance policy was obtained by her own will, and her relationship, as a non-debtor mortgagor, with the Bank terminated when the subject mortgage was satisfied (R. p. 48). The Bank claims an equitable lien on the disputed insurance proceeds (R. p. 7) because it was awarded judgment of foreclosure on April 22, 2011 and a deficiency judgment against the debtors on September 6, 2011 (R. p. 53). In support of its claim, the Bank alleged that Jenrette was the mortgagor under the subject mortgage instrument’s contract terms, and that she defaulted on her obligations under the mortgage by failing to provide an insurance policy for the Bank’s benefit (R. p. 53). The Insurer was released as a party

after the filing of the interpleader action and payment of the disputed insurance proceeds into the Clerk of Court's Office for Horry County (R. p. 40).

On May 16, 2012, the Bank filed a motion for summary judgment as to the relief set out in Jenrette's answer and cross-claim (R. p. 72). The Bank asserted that Jenrette's failure to maintain insurance for the Bank's benefit breached the terms of the subject mortgage, and that the alleged breach gave rise to an equitable lien on the disputed insurance proceeds even though the Bank could not obtain a deficiency judgment against Jenrette as she was not obligated on the promissory note (R. p. 81). On October 4, 2012, the trial court issued an order granting the Bank's motion for summary judgment which found that Jenrette breached the obligations under the terms of the subject mortgage, and that the Bank held an equitable lien on the disputed insurance proceeds (R. pp. 38-41). Thereafter, Jenrette timely filed and served a motion to reconsider the trial court's prior order of October 4, 2012 that granted the Bank's motion for summary judgment (R. p. 31). Jenrette, in support of her motion to reconsider, asserted that the prior order of October 4, 2012 incorrectly found that she breached the terms of the subject mortgage, and that the order made an incorrect conclusion of law with respect to its finding of an equitable lien (R. pp. 31-32). A hearing was held on January 23, 2013 (R. p. 31) and the trial court issued an order granting Jenrette's motion to reconsider on March 5, 2013 (R. p. 31). The order of March 5, 2013 found that the rights and obligations of Jenrette and the Bank with respect to one another were terminated upon the filing of the mortgage satisfaction (R. p. 35), and denied the Bank's motion for summary judgment as the trial court found that Jenrette was not liable for the outstanding indebtedness remaining unsatisfied after the foreclosure sale of the Subject Real Property (R. p. 37). Jenrette

filed a motion for summary judgment on June 3, 2013 seeking an order directing payment to her of the disputed insurance proceeds held on deposit (R. p. 88). In support of her motion for summary judgment, Jenrette asserted that the subject mortgage and the covenants contained therein were terminated upon the filing of the mortgage satisfaction, and that the Bank failed to make a showing sufficient to establish an equitable lien (R. pp. 88-89). On August 30, 2013, the trial court issued an order denying Jenrette's motion for summary judgment (R. p. 21), and the matter was tried as a non-jury trial before the Honorable George C. James, Jr., on December 17, 2013 (R. p. 7). At trial, the Bank claimed that paragraph 3 of the subject mortgage pledged insurance proceeds for any insurance policies Jenrette might have to the Bank (R. p. 147, line 23-p. 148, line 1) (R. p. 149, lines 13-18), and asserted that an equitable lien arose as a result of the loan commitment and agreement to provide insurance (R. p. 261, lines 1-14). Jenrette claimed that she was solely entitled to the disputed insurance proceeds as she was the named insured under the insurance policy (R. p. 1), and that any obligations she had under the subject mortgage were determined and terminated upon the filing of the mortgage satisfaction (R. p. 12). On February 11, 2014, the trial court issued an order ("Trial Order") which found that Jenrette was bound by the assignment in the subject mortgage, and that the assignment survived the cancellation of the mortgage (R. p. 13). The Trial Order also found that the Bank held an equitable lien on the disputed insurance proceeds since the successful bid at the foreclosure sale was in an amount less than the residue of the mortgage debt remaining unsatisfied after the foreclosure sale of the Subject Real Property (R. p. 18). Thereafter, Jenrette timely filed a motion to reconsider the Trial Order (R. p. 2). Jenrette claimed that the trial court erred by making findings of fact that

were not supported by the evidence introduced during the trial, by not making findings of fact that were supported by the evidence introduced during the trial, by making various incorrect conclusions of law, and by not considering or ruling upon various issues raised during the trial that had a direct and substantial bearing on the determinative issues of fact and law (R. p. 91). The trial court issued an order on June 3, 2014 (“Final Order”) denying Jenrette’s motion to reconsider (R. p. 2). The trial court amended the Trial Order in part and found that the promissory note was executed by Michael Brooks Quickel on May 1, 2009, that the subject mortgage was initially recorded on May 4, 2009 and re-recorded on May 5, 2009, and that it erred in finding that the power of attorney granted authority to Jenrette’s attorney-in-fact to execute the promissory note in Jenrette’s name (R. pp. 2-3). The Final Order found that the trial court failed to specifically make the fourteen findings of fact that Jenrette claimed were supported by the evidence introduced during the trial (R. p. 4). However, the trial court rejected Jenrette’s motion that the Trial Order be amended to include Jenrette’s fourteen proposed findings of fact as it found that those findings of fact were of no real import to the ultimate decision of the case (R. p. 4). On June 11, 2014, Jenrette served the Notice of Appeal on the Bank. The Trial Order and the Final Order are the subjects of this appeal. Jenrette received notice of entry of the Final Order on June 4, 2013.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

This interpleader action was commenced by the Insurer as a result of competing claims made by Jenrette and the Bank for insurance proceeds in the sum of \$105,000.00 (“Insurance Proceeds”) that were deposited by the Insurer into an escrow account (R. p. 7). The Subject Real Property was conveyed unto Jenrette pursuant to the deed of

conveyance recorded in the Horry County Register of Deeds on September 11, 2007 in Deed Book 3275 at Page 2145 (R. p. 236, lines 4-6) (R. pp. 280-283). On March 9, 2009, Jenrette obtained casualty and liability coverage through Bradham Insurance Agency (“Bradham”) insuring the Subject Real Property against loss or damage for fire and other hazards (R. pp. 8-9) (R. p. 266, lines 14-20). Jenrette paid the sum of \$397.00 as a premium to purchase insurance coverage under a policy issued by the Insurer (R. p. 287) (R. p. 116, line 6–p. 117, line 19). The Bank did not request Jenrette to pay the \$397.00 sum for the insurance coverage (R. p. 239, lines 8-10). The insurance policy issued by the Insurer (“Insurance Policy”) was a dwelling and mobile home insurance policy that provided dwelling fire policy coverage and personal liability coverage in the sum of \$100,000.00 for the policy period of March 9, 2009 to March 9, 2010 (R. p. 118, lines 8-11) (R. p. 286) (R. pp. 289-300). Jenrette paid the premiums on the Insurance Policy, including the premium in the sum of \$571.00 to renew the Insurance Policy in March of 2010 (R. p. 124, lines 1-13) (R. p. 239, line 11–p. 240, line 6). Jenrette did not consult with the Bank regarding the \$571.00 sum she paid to renew the Insurance Policy, and she renewed the Insurance Policy for her sole benefit at the time of the March 9, 2010 renewal (R. p. 240, lines 10-21). The Insurance Policy’s declaration’s page for the policy period of March 9, 2009 to March 9, 2010 does not contain a mortgagee name, an address for any mortgagee, or a loan number referencing or relating to any mortgage loan (R. p. 122, lines 3-11) (R. p. 286). The declaration’s page for the policy period of March 9, 2010 to March 9, 2011 does not contain a mortgagee name, an address for any mortgagee, or a loan number referencing or relating to any mortgage loan (R. p. 311).

Michael Brooks Quickel (“Quickel”) sought to obtain a loan from the Bank to refinance existing debt and obtain business capital (R. p. 9). On April 24, 2009, Quickel, individually and on behalf of Cajun Carolina, LLC (“Cajun”), executed a loan commitment letter (“April 24, 2009 Loan Commitment”) which listed Cajun as the “Borrower” and provided that certain real property, including the Subject Real Property, would be pledged as collateral (R. p. 9) (R. p. 383). The loan transaction was based upon the April 24, 2009 Loan Commitment (R. p. 128, line 13-p.129, line 21). Jenrette executed a power of attorney, dated April 27, 2009 (“April 27, 2009 POA”), to pledge part of her real property as collateral for the proposed loan (R. p. 217, line 11-p. 219, line 13). A document entitled “Agreement to Provide Insurance,” dated May 1, 2009 (“Cajun Agreement to Provide Insurance”), was executed by Quickel, as member of Cajun, and Ann Marion, as Assistant Vice President of the Bank (R. p. 424). The Cajun Agreement to Provide Insurance sets forth the telephone numbers and addresses of Bradham and the Insurer, and lists the policy number and policy period pertaining to the Insurance Policy (R. p. 424). Quickel did not sign the April 24, 2009 Loan Commitment as Jenrette’s attorney-in-fact as he executed it prior to the effective date of the April 27, 2009 POA (R. p. 10). On May 1, 2009, Quickel, in his capacity as member of Cajun, executed and delivered a promissory note to the Bank (“May 1, 2009 Note”), wherein Cajun, as maker of the May 1, 2009 Note, promised to pay the principal sum of \$350,000.00 (“Mortgage Debt”), together with interest as set forth therein (R. p. 314) (R. p. 388) (R. p. 139, line 21–p. 140, line 2). The May 1, 2009 Note was secured by a real estate mortgage (“Quickel Mortgage”) that was executed by Quickel on May 1, 2009 and recorded on May 4, 2009 in Mortgage Book 5166 at Page 2461, office of the Register of Deeds for

Horry County (R. p. 314). The Quickel Mortgage encumbered two lots (Lots 7 and 14) that were owned by Quickel (R. p. 314) (R. p. 320). Quickel also executed a personal guaranty agreement, dated May 1, 2009, whereby he agreed to be personally responsible for the Mortgage Debt owed by Cajun under the May 1, 2009 Note (R. p. 315). To further secure the loan to Cajun, Quickel, as Jenrette's attorney-in-fact, executed a real estate mortgage, dated May 1, 2009 ("Subject Mortgage"), encumbering five parcels of real property, including the Subject Real Property, owned by Jenrette (R. pp. 314-315) (R. p. 321). The Subject Mortgage was originally recorded on May 4, 2009 and re-recorded on May 5, 2009 in Mortgage Book 5166 at Page 3100 (R. p. 315).

Jenrette did not attend the closing of the loan to Cajun as the purpose of her signing the April 27, 2009 POA was to pledge her real property as collateral (R. p. 219, lines 2-13). Nothing in the April 27, 2009 POA specifically directed Quickel to procure hazard insurance (R. p. 200, lines 4-9) (R. pp. 386-387), and Quickel never obtained an insurance policy on behalf of Jenrette (R. p. 204, lines 22-24). Jenrette never executed a promissory note or a personal guaranty agreement as the Bank informed her that she did not have to make any payments or pay any money (R. p. 228, line 25-p. 229, line 3). No monies were delivered or paid to Jenrette under the May 1, 2009 Note as she did not receive any money from the Bank (R. p. 246, lines 4-6). The Bank did not create any special document for the closing of the loan to Cajun, and the Subject Mortgage was a standard mortgage used by the Bank (R. p. 147, lines 7-22). Paragraph 3 of the Subject Mortgage pertaining to insurance policies that "Borrower" may have is the language which the Bank uses in most of its mortgages (R. p. 395) (R. p. 147, lines 14-16). Paragraph 1 of the Subject Mortgage provides in pertinent part: "As further security for

all sums secured by this Mortgage, Borrower assigns to Lender all rents and profits arising from the Property” (R. p. 391). However, paragraph 3 of the Subject Mortgage fails to include any such language regarding any insurance policy or insurance proceeds serving as further security for all sums secured by the mortgage (R. p. 391) (R. p. 395). Paragraph 16 of the Subject Mortgage pertaining to the mortgagor’s representations regarding hazardous substances provides in pertinent part: “The obligations and liabilities of Mortgagor under this paragraph shall survive the foreclosure of the Mortgage, the delivery of a deed in lieu of foreclosure, [and] the cancellation or release of record of this Mortgage” (R. p. 392). However, paragraph 3 of the Subject Mortgage fails to include any such language relating to any insurance policies or insurance proceeds (R. p. 391) (R. p. 395).

Cajun failed to make payments on the May 1, 2009 Note (R. p. 316), and the loan was turned over to Robert Smith, the Bank’s Vice President in charge of special assets, to begin the litigation of the foreclosure of the Quickel Mortgage and the Subject Mortgage (R. p. 126, line 7-p. 127, line 16). The Bank filed a complaint in the case bearing the designation of Civil Action Number 2010-CP-26-04456 (“Prior Foreclosure”) on May 19, 2010 (R. p. 313), and commenced foreclosure proceedings seeking judgment of foreclosure and sale of the parcels of real property securing the May 1, 2009 Note, including the Subject Real Property owned by Jenrette (R. p. 11). Jenrette was joined as a defendant in the Prior Foreclosure as the record owner of the Subject Real Property and as a mortgagor (R. p. 4). The Bank did not sue Jenrette for any money in the Prior Foreclosure (R. p. 242, lines 2-4). Cajun was joined as a defendant in the Prior Foreclosure as maker of the May 1, 2009 Note, and Quickel was joined as a defendant as

the owner of the two lots secured by the Quickel Mortgage and as a guarantor of the payment of the Mortgage Debt (R. p. 11) (R. pp. 314-317).

On January 15, 2011, the residence on the Subject Real Property was destroyed by fire (R. p. 11). Jenrette contacted Bradham and reported the fire casualty (R. p. 119, line 23-p.120, line 6). The Bank became aware that it was not named as a loss payee on the Insurance Policy during the pendency of the Prior Foreclosure (R. p. 11). From March of 2009 to the time of the January 15, 2011 fire casualty, Bradham did not receive any correspondence from the Bank requesting that the Bank be named as a loss payee under the Insurance Policy (R. p. 123, line 20-p. 124, line 1). The Bank did not require Jenrette to obtain casualty or liability insurance for its benefit (R. p. 267, lines 2-6), nor did the Bank contact Jenrette with regard to the Insurance Policy between the time she obtained the Insurance Policy and the time of the January 15, 2011 fire casualty (R. p. 267, lines 11-15). After the January 15, 2011 fire casualty, the Bank contacted Bradham regarding Jenrette's claim and asked that its purported interest be protected (R. p. 120, lines 7-13). Payment under the Insurance Policy was honored after Jenrette's claim was processed (R. p. 120, line 17-p.121, line 2), and the Insurer paid the sum of \$105,000.00 (Transcript p. 246, line 25-p. 247, line 2). Due to the conflicting claims, a check was issued to both Jenrette and the Bank during the pendency of the Prior Foreclosure (R. p. 12, line 14-p. 121, line 2) (R. p. 247, lines 18-21).

A hearing in the Prior Foreclosure was held before the Master-in-Equity for Horry County on April 18, 2011 (R. p. 312), and a Master's Order of Foreclosure and Sale was filed on April 26, 2011 (R. p. 4). The Bank did not assert any cause of action against Jenrette with regard to the Insurance Proceeds in the Prior Foreclosure (R. p. 242, lines 5-

9). The Master's Order of Foreclosure and Sale did not render any findings as to Jenrette since she was not an obligor or guarantor of the Mortgage Debt (R. p. 12), but found that Cajun and Quickel were liable for the Mortgage Debt (R. p. 318). The Bank was the successful bidder after the mortgaged properties were sold at public auction on August 1, 2011 (R. p. 12). A Master's Report on Sale and Disbursements and an Order of Deficiency Judgment against Cajun and Quickel in the sum of \$117,546.89 ("Deficiency Judgment") were filed on September 6, 2011. A Release of Lien Mortgage Satisfaction, dated September 2, 2011 and filed on September 8, 2011 ("Satisfaction"), released, cancelled, and satisfied the Subject Mortgage (R. p. 322) (R. p. 12).

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

"An action to establish an equitable lien is an action in equity." *Chase Home Fin., LLC v. Risher*, 405 S.C. 202, 208, 746 S.E.2d 471, 474 (Ct. App. 2013). In an appeal of an "action in equity, tried by the judge alone, without a reference, ... the appellate court has jurisdiction to find facts in accordance with its views of the preponderance of the evidence." *Barnes v. Johnson*, 402 S.C. 458, 466, 742 S.E.2d 6, 9 (Ct. Ap. 2013) (quoting *Townes Assocs., Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976)). "However, this broad scope of review does not require an appellate court to disregard the findings below or ignore the fact that the trial judge is in the better position to assess the credibility of the witnesses." *Pinckney v. Warren*, 344 S.C. 382, 387, 544 S.E.2d 620, 623 (2001). The appellate court "will affirm the findings of the trial court in an equity case unless the appellant satisfies this court that the preponderance of the evidence is against the findings of the trial court." *Regions Bank v. Wingard Properties, Inc.*, 394 S.C. 241, 249, 715 S.E.2d 348, 352 (Ct. App. 2011). Legal questions in

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