ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

George C. James, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-001285

RECEIVED
DEC 19 2014
SC Court of Appeals

National Security Fire and Casualty Company, Plaintiff

-vs-

Rosemary Jenrette, a/k/a Rosemary Long Jenrette and Horry County State Bank,
Defendants,

Of whom

Rosemary Jenrette a/k/a Rosemary Long Jenrette is the Appellant

And

Horry County State Bank is the Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Randall K. Mullins, Esquire
Jarrod E. Ownbey, Esquire
Post Office Box 585
North Myrtle Beach, SC 29597
(843) 272-8902
(843) 272-3075 (Fax)
mullinslawfirm@aol.com

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

proceeds was between the holder of tax liens and a mortgagee named in the insurance policy. While Appellant is correct that neither of these cases deal directly with the unique factual scenario this case presents; the principles espoused in the cases utilized by the Trial Court are not compromised. Furthermore, the Trial Court listed the cases of Whitestone S & L Ass'n v. Allstate, 28 N.Y.2d 332, 270 N.E.2d 694 (1971); Smith v. Gen. Mortgage Corp., 402 Mich. 125, 261 N.W.2d 710 (1978); Nationwide v. Wilborn, 291 Ala. 193, 279 So.2d 460 (1973); Allstate v. James, 779 F.2d 1536 (11th Cir. 1986); and Helmer v. Texas Farmers Insurance Co., 632 S.W.2d 194 (Tex. App. 1982) as all applying the rule, known as the “Full Credit Bid Rule”, espoused in the Emmons v. Lake States Insurance Company, 193 Mich. App. 460, 484 N.W.2d 712 (1992) and Certain Underwriters of Lloyds cases referenced in the Final Order. (R., pp. 17-18, ¶ 9).

Appellant is correct in her assessment that none of the cases relied upon by the Trial Court involve a non-debtor mortgagor dispute involving insurance proceeds. This is a case of first impression. However, while Appellant has repeatedly pointed to this difference, she has failed to produce any authority supporting her argument that the outcome would be affected in the scenario involving a non-debtor mortgagor. Aside from referencing Steinmeyer, in which no contractual privity requiring insurance existed, the Appellant has failed to provide any authority which disputes the Trial Court’s findings. The Trial Court’s ruling is based upon the equitable maxims which lie at the heart of the cases to which it cited. First, if an individual obligates themselves to insure property for the benefit of another, yet fails to do so, then based upon the equitable maxim “equity regards as done that which ought to be done”, the Court should place the parties in the position they would have been had the obligation been performed. This is further reinforced by the contractual obligation and duty to protect.

Appellant has only asserted that the conclusion reached by the Trial Court was erroneous because the authority cited in support of the ruling did not involve non-debtor mortgagors; she has not disputed the principles espoused by those cases. Appellant has not disputed the legal conclusions drawn from or represented by the cases; she simply asserts that the cases are discernible in that they derived from relationships involving debtor-mortgagors.

In Emmons, a case utilized by the Trial Court, the Michigan Court of Appeals held that the assignment clause contained in a mortgage will survive a foreclosure so long as the debt is not extinguished. In that case, the Michigan Court of Appeals stated that the insurance clause contained in the mortgage: “created an equitable assignment of a future right. In equity, a present assignment of money having a potential existence but not yet due will operate on the fund as soon as it is acquired. Here, the bank’s interest in the insurance proceeds vested at the time of the fire but expired upon satisfaction of the debt at the foreclosure sale. The assignment was collateral security for the mortgage debt.” Emmons, 193 Mich. App. at 464. (Internal citations omitted). The Emmons Court further opined that while the assignment survived the foreclosure, the debt in that instance did not, as the bank bid the full amount of the indebtedness at the foreclosure sale. Id. “When property is purchased at a foreclosure sale for an amount equal to the amount due on the mortgage, the debt is satisfied.” Id. at 463 *citing to* Bank of Three Oaks v. Lakefront Properties, 178 Mich. App. 551, 555, 44 N.W.2d 217 (1989).

In the instant case, however, it is uncontroverted that Respondent did not bid the entire amount of the indebtedness due at the foreclosure sale. In fact, a deficiency of One Hundred Seventeen Thousand Five Hundred Forty Six and 89/100ths Dollars (\$117,546.89) remains after the public auction pursuant to the Order of Foreclosure and Sale. The Trial Court’s ruling is in agreement with the principles upon which the Emmons holding is predicated.

In Certain Underwriters of Lloyds, the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Michigan held that the rule from Emmons did not apply in the instance where the debt was not satisfied through the foreclosure sale. Certain Underwriters of Lloyds, 825 F.Supp.2d 882, 890 (E.D. Mich. 2011). In its discussion, the District Court stated:

the point of distinction with the present case is that here, a portion of the debt, one that exceeds the amount of available insurance proceeds, remains after the foreclosure sale. The concern animating the holding in Emmons that the bank was not entitled to assigned insurance proceeds appears to be that allowing both assignment of insurance proceeds and a full-debt bid at the foreclosure sale would bestow on a mortgagee a double recovery. However, that concern is absent here...

Id. In the instant case, there are similarities to the Certain Underwriters of Lloyds case, insofar as the winning bid at the foreclosure sale was less than the indebtedness, and the mortgage required Appellant to obtain insurance for the benefit of Respondent. However, in Certain Underwriters of Lloyds, the bank was named as a loss payee on the policy and the loss occurred after the foreclosure.

It is important to point out that at the trial of the instant case, as is reflected in the Final Order filed February 11, 2014, Respondent confirmed that if it were to prevail, the insurance proceeds would be applied to the deficiency judgment obtained against Quickel and Cajun Carolina, LLC, thus reducing the deficiency award accordingly. (R., p. 19, ¶ 14). As in Certain Underwriters of Lloyds, this would prevent the double recovery of concern to the Emmons Court, which clearly influenced their opinion.

In Jones, the South Carolina Court of Appeals followed the reasoning contained in Singletary v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 316 S.C. 199, 447 S.E.2d 869 (Ct. App. 1994) stating: “Ordinarily, the rights of a mortgagee to insurance proceeds are determined at the time of a fire loss. However, a mortgagee’s rights under an insurance policy are terminated if, after fire loss, the underlying debt

is satisfied by a purchaser at a foreclosure.” 347 S.C. 535 at 543. The Jones Court further reasoned that a waiver of deficiency would not have impaired the bank’s pursuit of the insurance proceeds. “A mortgagee who waives deficiency ‘simply elects to rely solely on the mortgage security for satisfaction of his debt.’ By waiving deficiency, a mortgagee relinquishes only the right to pursue assets of the mortgagor over and above those covered by the mortgage.” Jones, 347 S.C. 535 at 544 *citing to* Sellars v. First Colonial Corp., 276 S.C. 548, 551, 280 S.E.2d 805, 806 (1981). In light of the approach taken in Jones, the debt owed to Respondent has not been satisfied, thus Respondent’s claim to the insurance proceeds is viable.

Appellant takes the position that Respondent’s Mortgage was cancelled and satisfied by operation of the filing of the Release of Lien Mortgage Satisfaction on September 8, 2011 in Mortgage Book 5345 at Page 1825, in the Horry County Records. Appellant’s argument is that once the cancellation of the lien occurred, Appellant had no further obligations to Respondent; that upon the filing of the cancellation of lien and securing a deficiency judgment against Quickel and Cajun Carolina, LLC, Respondent was made whole. In support of her argument, Appellant relies upon §29-3-660, S.C. Code Ann. (2007). Section 29-3-660, commonly referred to as the “Deficiency Judgment” statute states:

In actions to foreclosure mortgages the court may adjudge and direct the payment by the mortgagor of any residue of the mortgage debt that may remain unsatisfied after a sale of the mortgaged premises in cases in which the mortgagor shall be personally liable for the debt secured by such mortgage and if the mortgage debt be secured by the covenant or obligation of any person other than the mortgagor the plaintiff may make such person a party to the action and the court may adjudge payment of the residue of such debt remaining unsatisfied after a sale of the mortgaged premises against such other person and may enforce such judgment as in other cases.

Respondent obviously disagrees with this assessment.

In opposing Appellant's argument regarding the cancellation of lien, Respondent relies upon §29-3-780, S.C. Code Ann. (2007) which states:

upon confirmation of the circuit court of the report of the master or the other officer making a sale of lands pursuant to decree of foreclosure, the officer of the court making the sale shall cause to be recorded in the office where the foreclosed mortgage is recorded a release, cancellation, and satisfaction of the lien in the form prescribed in Section 29-3-790. However, nothing in this section may be construed to satisfy any unpaid portion of the debt secured by the mortgage.

(Emphasis added). Section 29-3-790 provides:

the release, cancellation, and satisfaction of lien required under Section 29-3-780 must be made in writing and signed by the officer and must be in the following form: 'Lien of mortgage recorded in (Mortgage Book and Page), (Office) is released, canceled, and satisfied by sale under foreclosure the ____ day of (Month), (Year). See Judgment Roll No. _____'.

(Emphasis added).

"The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature." Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 533 S.E.2d 578 (2000) *citing to* Charleston County Sch. Dist. V. State Budget and Control Bd., 313 S.C. 1, 437 S.E.2d 6 (1993). "Under the plain meaning rule, it is not the court's place to change the meaning of a clear and unambiguous statute." Id. citing to In re Vincent J., 333 S.C. 233, 509 S.E.2d 261 (1998). "Where the statute's language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning." Id. (citing to Paschal v. State Election Comm'n, 317 S.C. 434, 454 S.E.2d 890 (1995)). "What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will. Therefore, the courts are bound to give effect to the expressed intent of the legislature." Id. citing to Sutherland Statutory Construction § 46.03 at 94 (5th ed. 1992). "We are not at liberty, under the guise of construction, to alter the plain language of the statute by adding words which

the Legislature saw fit not to include.” Shelley Construction Company v. Sea Garden Homes, Inc., 287 S.C. 24, 336 S.E.2d 488 (Ct. App. 1985). “Our duty is to apply the statute according to its own terms.” Id. citing to Multiplex Building Corp., Inc. v. Lyles, 268 S.C. 577, 235 S.E.2d 133 (1977).

Respondent argued at trial, and again here, that the filing of the Release of Lien Mortgage Satisfaction was a mandatory directive pursuant to §§29-3-780 and 29-3-790 that the Master in Equity for Horry County file the Release of Lien Mortgage Satisfaction form. Based upon the word choice, the Legislature did not grant discretion to the Master in Equity concerning whether the document could be filed incidental to the foreclosure being completed, it demanded that the action be taken regardless. Next, the form of the cancellation is contained in §29-3-790, which again uses mandatory directive language, *i.e.* “must”. Lastly, §29-3-780 indicates that “nothing in this section may be construed to satisfy any unpaid portion of the debt secured by the mortgage.” This language contained in the release of mortgage statute directly contradicts Appellant’s argument. The statute specifically states that the cancellation of the mortgage does nothing to extinguish the debt secured by the mortgage as Appellant has suggested. The mandatory filing of the Release of Lien Mortgage Satisfaction by the Master in Equity is a ministerial act, required by statute. If this Court were to accept Appellant’s argument, then the ministerial act required by State law, would negatively and fundamentally impair the rights of lending institutions without any recourse to prevent the harm to them.

Appellant contends that the “Deficiency Judgment” statute renders the debt fully satisfied, arguing that when a mortgagee obtains a deficiency judgment against a debtor, where the sale of the security fails to bring the full amount due under the mortgage, the judgment obtained makes the mortgagee whole. However, nothing in the “Deficiency Judgment” statute indicates that is

the case. Additionally, the Trial Court, in rejecting Appellant's argument in reliance on the "Deficiency Judgment" statute, stated: "reliance upon that statute is misplaced, as the Bank is not seeking a deficiency judgment against Mrs. Jenrette. It claims an equitable lien on insurance proceeds to which Mrs. Jenrette would otherwise be entitled." (R., p. 19, ¶ 13). The logic of the Trial Court is sound.

Furthermore, the language contained in the Mortgage executed on behalf of Appellant contradicts the argument she urges this Court to accept. Paragraph 3 of the subject Mortgage specifically addresses this scenario. In pertinent part, the Mortgage states:

3(A) ... In the event of the foreclosure of this Mortgage or any other transfer of title to the Property in extinguishment of the indebtedness and other sums secured hereby, all right, title, and interest of Borrower in and to all insurance policies and renewals thereof then in force shall pass to the grantee. Upon the failure of Borrower to obtain and maintain insurance satisfactory to Lender, Lender may at its own discretion procure and substitute for any and all of the insurance so held as aforesaid, such other policies of insurance, in such amounts as Lender, acting in its sole discretion, may determine; all without prejudice to its right to foreclosure hereunder, should Borrower fail or refuse to keep said premises so insured... 3(B)... Borrower hereby assigns to Lender all proceeds from any insurance policies, and Lender is hereby authorized and empowered in its reasonable discretion, to adjust or compromise any loss under any insurance policies on the Property, and to collect and receive the proceeds from any such policy or policies. Each insurance company is hereby authorized and directed to make payment for all such losses directly to Lender alone, and not to Borrower and Lender jointly. After deducting such insurance proceeds any expenses incurred by Lender in the collection or handling of such funds, Lender acting in its sole discretion, may; apply the net proceeds (I) to the payment of any sum secured by this Mortgage in such order as Lender may determine... all without affecting the lien of this Mortgage for the full amount secured hereby before such payment took place.

(Emphasis added). Paragraph 3 specifically addresses the issues pertaining to the impact of the foreclosure of the mortgage and its impact upon the assignment of the insurance proceeds. Therefore, construing the language contained in the Mortgage in light of the rules espoused by Emmons, Certain Underwriters of Lloyds, Jones, and the other cases cited by the Trial Court

which adopted the “Full Credit Bid Rule”, as well as §§29-3-780 and 29-3-790, it is clear that Appellant’s argument must fail.

The Trial Court’s ruling, taking into account the bevy of case law with respect to the “Full Credit Bid Rule”; the equitable considerations relating to the covenant by a mortgagor to insure the property for the benefit of the mortgagee; the instructive equitable maxims; the relevant statutes; and the provisions of the documents themselves correctly determined that Respondent was entitled to the insurance proceeds at issue in this case. Appellant has attempted to distinguish the applicable case law based upon Appellant’s position as a non-debtor mortgagor; yet she has failed to provide any authority which assaults the well reasoned findings of the Trial Court. As such, Appellant has failed to carry her burden and the Trial Court’s ruling must be affirmed by this Court.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THE EXISTENCE OF AN EQUITABLE LIEN ON THE INSURANCE PROCEEDS BASED UPON THE ADDITIONAL SUSTAINING GROUNDS

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